## Yale University EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale

Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library

School of Medicine

January 2019

# Insulin And Non-Insulin Dependent Glut4 Trafficking: Regulation By The Tug Protein

Stephen Devries

Follow this and additional works at: https://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl

**Recommended** Citation

Devries, Stephen, "Insulin And Non-Insulin Dependent Glut4 Trafficking: Regulation By The Tug Protein" (2019). Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library. 3489. https://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl/3489

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Medicine at EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. It has been accepted for inclusion in Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library by an authorized administrator of EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. For more information, please contact elischolar@yale.edu.

# Insulin and non-insulin dependent GLUT4 trafficking: regulation by the TUG protein

A Thesis Submitted to

the Yale University School of Medicine

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Medicine

by

Stephen Graham DeVries

2019

#### Abstract

The body tightly regulates glucose production and disposal despite changing metabolic demands, including large post-prandial and fasting fluctuations. Specifically, under the action of insulin, muscle contraction, ischemia, and poor nutrient availability, cells increase the amount of the glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) at the plasma membrane by mobilizing a sequestered pool of transporters. In this work, we demonstrate that the TUG (tether containing a UBX domain for GLUT4) protein mediates both insulin-dependent and insulin-independent pathways to increase GLUT4 at the plasma membrane. In mice fed a high fat diet to induce insulin resistance, the regulation of the endoproteolytic cleavage of the TUG protein was disrupted. We also present evidence that helps to identify the key protease, Usp25m, that cleaves the tethering protein TUG in both an insulin-dependent and insulin-independent manner, releasing GLUT4 from its storage location in the basal state to the plasma membrane in an activated state. Finally, our results also suggest that in the adipocytes and myocytes, activated AMPK leads to cleavage of the TUG protein.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Estifanos Habtemichael, who patiently taught me the techniques necessary to work in a cell biology laboratory at the beginning of medical school. His constant guidance and feedback were invaluable to the work that led to this thesis. I would also like to thank Don Li, who helped me adapt and optimize my planned projects. His mentoring both in research and in medical training has been a central part of my training as a physician and as a scientist. Finally, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Jonathan Bogan, whose constant enthusiasm for science, optimism, and support made working in his lab the highlight of my time in medical school.

## **Table of contents**

1. Introduction	1
1.1. Insulin resistance	1
1.2. Macronutrient contributions to obesity	5
1.3. GLUT4 transporters and their regulation by membrane trafficking	7
1.4. Thyroid hormone agonists	15
1.5. Exercise-induced glucose uptake in muscle and the role of AMPK	16
1.6. Mouse model of type 2 diabetes mellitus	21
2. Statement of purpose, specific hypothesis, and specific aims	22
3. Methods	23
3.1. Reagents and cell culture	23
3.2. Mice	25
4. Results	26
4.1. Usp25m interacts with TUG	26
4.2. TUG cleavage differences in HFD and RC fed mice	27
4.3. Activated AMPK	27
5. Discussion	35
5.1. Usp25m interacts with TUG	35
5.2. HFD inhibits TUG cleavage	36
5.3. AMPK	36
References	39

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. Insulin resistance

The human body, in terms of its nutritional requirements, is optimized for a time when food was scarce and unpredictable (1). However, over the last half-century in the developed world and now increasingly in developing countries, dense caloric foods have become easily available. Obesity, as well as comorbid conditions like non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and atherosclerosis, are on the rise. Type 2 diabetes in particular is implicated in significant and growing morbidity and mortality in the United States and worldwide (2). The burdens of this disease include kidney failure, retinopathy, and neuropathy (3). While type 2 diabetes has been a major health problem in developed countries for decades, the populations with the largest rates of increase in the disease are in Asia and the Indian subcontinent. In these countries, the number of people living with type 2 diabetes is projected to increase by over 75% by the year 2034.

The rising number of cases of type 2 diabetes has been apparent in the United States for decades. The prevalence of diabetes in the United States increased from 0.9% in 1958 to 4.4% in 2000, and 90%-95% of these diagnoses were type 2 diabetes. Notably, the increase in cases over this forty year period was not uniform across age groups: in the 18-29 year-old group, the increase in diabetes diagnoses went up by 40%, while in persons aged 30-39, the increase was 95%. For older patients aged 40-49, the number of diagnoses rose by 83%, and in patients aged 50-59, 49%. The rates were slowest to rise in the oldest age groups; in patients 60-69, diagnoses rose by 40%, while in patients over 70, 33% (4).

Over the last few decades, both epidemiological and laboratory studies have shed light on the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. At a basic level, insulin resistance leads to the disease, and beta-cell dysfunction follows (5).

However, it remains unclear if hyperinsulinemia is the primary cause of insulin resistance, or if it is entirely secondary (6). The former model is supported by evidence that fasting hyperinsulinemia may develop before an increase in postprandial blood glucose, causing the release of insulin from beta-cells (7). The latter model, in which insulin resistance precedes hyperinsulinemia, is perhaps more widely accepted. Patients who are insulin resistant because of known mutations in their insulin-signaling pathways provide some of the strongest evidence for this model. In these patients, the primary lesion is resistance; observable effects, including hyperinsulinemia, are therefore concluded to be secondary phenomena (8). In this model, with the effects of insulin blunted, the beta cells of the pancreas compensate by increasing the production of insulin.

In 1963, Randle and others published a paper connecting obesity to insulin resistance, arguing that glucose oxidation was impaired by the presence of high levels of fatty acid (9). Today, overwhelming epidemiological data, along with mouse and human data, illustrate that caloric imbalance is a key causative factor in the development of insulin resistance, and thus a risk factor for the development of type 2 diabetes (7). However the specific mechanistic connections between obesity and insulin resistance remain somewhat unclear.

Notably, one of the many sequela of the obesity epidemic has been a drastic rise in the prevalence of NAFLD. Today it is a major cause of liver disorder in the Western world (10). Fat deposits in the liver are strongly associated with type 2 diabetes – more than 90% of obese patients with type 2 diabetes have NAFLD – and insulin resistance is a common feature of both NAFLD and obesity (10). Two recent studies in particular (12, 13) have advanced the understanding of the mechanisms that link deposits of fat in the liver and resistance to insulin. Plasma-free fatty acids were observed at higher levels in patients who were obese and had type 2 diabetes, and further work established an inverse relationship between fasting plasma-free fatty acids with insulin resistance (11, 12). Subsequent studies, using <sup>1</sup>H NMR (proton nuclear magnetic resonance) and muscle biopsy, have more directly demonstrated the strong link between high concentrations of intramyocellular triglycerides and insulin resistance (12). This can lead to NAFLD by causing a shift in the distribution of energy substrates, so that they accumulate in the liver and are stored as fat.

While these results might seem consistent with the Randle hypothesis – implicating fatty acids as causal to insulin resistance – more recent work suggested an important mechanistic difference. Under the Randle hypothesis, which was developed using cardiac and diaphragm muscle, increased citrate concentrations affect phosphofructokinase. However, recent data support the idea that fatty acids interfere with an early step in the signaling cascade that ultimately leads GLUT4 to translocate to the cell surface (9, 12). Diacylglycerides were later identified as a causal factor in hepatic insulin resistance. In hepatocytes, a novel protein kinase C isoform, PKCɛ, was found to be translocated to the plasma membrane, inhibiting the activity of the intracellular kinase domain of the insulin receptor (13, 14). In myocytes, a different novel protein kinase C, PKCθ, has been identified (15). The mechanism for resistance to insulin signaling in hepatocytes caused by diacylglycerides was further explained in 2016. The phosphorylation site (Thr1160) was identified as a substrate of PKCɛ in the kinase activation loop of the insulin receptor. In vitro studies showed that a mutation from threonine to glutamic acid (T1160E), which can mimic phosphorylation, caused impaired insulin receptor signaling, but a mutation to alanine (T1160A), which resists phosphorylation, did not show inhibition. Furthermore, in mice, mutation from threonine to alanine on Thr1150 (the homologous residue in mice) conferred protection in the insulin signaling pathway in mice that were fed a high-fat diet to induce hepatic insulin resistance (16). Further experiments showed crosstalk between PKCɛ and the kinase p70S6k (17). This work clearly demonstrated that insulin signaling in the liver is deranged due to accumulation of lipids.

However, changes in insulin signaling do not fully explain the phenomenon of insulin resistance. The downstream consequence of insulin signaling is GLUT4 translocation to the plasma membrane, and changes to the abundance and distribution of GLUT4 have been demonstrated in muscle and adipose tissue. Garvey and others studied muscle and adipose tissues of humans during fasting, and compared patients with type 2 diabetes to healthy controls. Notably, compared to the controls, GLUT4 targeting was altered in the type 2 diabetic group even in the fasting state, when insulin signaling is minimal. In adipose, GLUT4 was depleted in all membrane sub-fractions, and the co-trafficking protein IRAP was similarly altered in its basal distribution among intracellular membranes in the fasting state (18). These results suggest that alterations in membrane trafficking may contribute to insulin resistance, independent of alterations in insulin signaling pathways.

#### *1.2. Macronutrient contributions to obesity*

The previous section addressed the mechanistic connections between obesity and insulin resistance, but the contributing factors to obesity are also important to consider. In 2017, the Endocrine Society published a scientific review, making the case that caloric imbalance has been a dominant factor in the rise of obesity. The review proposed that irrespective of the macronutrient balance, the calorie amount is the determining factor in weight gain; in simple terms, "a calorie is a calorie" (19).

A prominent opposing view, often called the carbohydrate-insulin model, holds that the macronutrient content of ingested calories is important to determine weight and obesity. Changes in dietary quality in the last 50 years may have caused hormonal responses that shift calories towards deposition of fat (20). Under the carbohydrate-insulin model, if calories are stored, then the energy content of blood is reduced, which causes hunger and subsequent overeating; in other words, a high-carbohydrate diet causes postprandial hyperinsulinemia and this promotes deposition of fat (20). As Ludwig and Ebbeling note, the carbohydrate-insulin model does not violate the First Law of Thermodynamics (conservation of energy). This model sees overeating as a consequence of increased fat stores, and not the primary cause (20). The details of the supporting evidence for the carbohydrate-insulin model, including considerable human, animal, and cell-culture research, are beyond the scope of this thesis (20), but the most recent supporting study was a randomized human trial, published in late 2018 (21).

Advocates for the conventional model ("a calorie is a calorie") argue that there are key flaws in the carbohydrate-insulin model. Specifically, in the carbohydrate-insulin model, because fuels are being stored under the action of insulin, the level of circulating

fuels in the blood is reduced, leading to hunger and thus increased food intake. But as Hall and others argue, obese individuals have normal or even elevated levels of circulating fuels, including free fatty acids and glucose, and the adipose of obese patients actually releases more total free fatty acids and glycerol than individuals of normal weight. Furthermore, diets with varying degrees of glycemic index and load do not lead to a significant difference in hunger, either acutely or longer term (22, 23). Finally, Hall and others note that patients on strict diets with lower glycemic indices had lower levels of insulin compared to patients on equal calorie diets with higher glycemic loads, but the patients on diets with lower glycemic loads did not show increased mobilization of free fatty acids and oxidation beyond the amount that could be explained by the increased fat intake in their diets. There were not significant differences in weight loss between patients with lower and higher glycemic load diets, and furthermore, decreased insulin levels had no predictive value on weight loss (23, 24).

The macronutrient content required to halt the progression of obesity or lose weight is not only a fundamental question in diabetes research, but a key problem to solve in order to lessen the burden of the associated diseases. While no one study is likely to settle the debate, advocates of the carbohydrate-insulin model recently published the results of a randomized trial in which participants who had lost about 12% of their preweight loss body mass on a conventional diet were assigned high and low carbohydrate diets for weight maintenance. The primary outcome was energy expenditure, which was significantly increased in patients assigned the lower carbohydrate diets. The results were most dramatic in patients with the highest pre-weight loss levels of insulin. The patients in the highest third of pre-weight loss insulin levels had an energy expenditure increase of 308 kcals on average on the low carbohydrate diet, compared to patients on the higher carbohydrate diets (25).

## 1.3. GLUT4 transporters and their regulation by membrane trafficking

The phenomenon of increased movement of glucose down its concentration gradient from the blood to the intracellular space caused by the action of insulin was well documented in pioneering work from the 1970s and 1980s. A major breakthrough was made in 1980, when two groups independently showed that in insulin responsive cells, glucose mobilized a glucose transporting activity from an internal cellular storage location to the plasma membrane (26, 27). Then, in 1981, it was demonstrated that in incubated rat adipocytes, insulin increased glucose transport into the cells, a glucose transporter moved from an intracellular pool to the plasma membrane, and high concentrations of anti-insulin antibodies largely ablated these effects (28). The first biochemical characterization of the factor that facilitates glucose transport was published in 1985 (29). Now termed GLUT1, it is widely expressed, and its location in the cell is not significantly changed by insulin. Further studies characterized a glucose transporter that likely increased in concentration at the plasma membrane, allowing for the diffusion of glucose. Under the action of insulin, transporters would translocate from organelles inside the cell and embed themselves in the plasma membrane. Once embedded in the plasma membrane, glucose would diffuse down its concentration gradient (i.e., ATPindependent transport). Further characterization of the major insulin-sensitive glucose transporter, GLUT4, was described later (30). The GLUT isoform that is responsive to insulin was cloned by five laboratories (31-35). and the gene that encoded the transporter was termed SLC2A4 (32). The location of the intracellular storage location of GLUT4 is currently an active area of research. Interestingly, in the basal state, GLUT4 is not localized to one compartment or organelle, but two, divided about equally in cultured cells. Thus, the late 1980s marked a key transition in diabetes research. The physiological problem of how insulin increases glucose uptake turned into a cell-biology problem of how insulin signals, and how it causes translocation of the insulin sensitive GLUT isoform, GLUT4, to the plasma membrane (36).

After the role of GLUT4 as a key effector of insulin mediated glucose uptake was recognized, an important challenge remained: describing the signal cascade and mechanism of action that, in the end, leads to GLUT4 being embedded in the plasma membrane (37). It was demonstrated that insulin binds to its receptor, causing dimerization or reorientation of the dimer, and thus activation (38). Once activated, the tyrosine kinase phosphorylates insulin receptor substrates (IRS proteins), in addition to activating phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K), and other effector proteins (37, 39).

Downstream, Akt2 (there are 3 isoforms) phosphorylates numerous targets, including AS160 (Akt substrate of 160 kDa) GTPase-activation protein (36, 40). The discovery of AS160 was especially significant because RAB proteins direct vesicle trafficking, so AS160 links signaling and trafficking pathways (36). AS160 is present on GSVs (GLUT4 storage vesicles, discussed in more detail below), and interacts with LRP1 and IRAP (41, 42).

Some of the mechanisms of GLUT4 retention, recycling, and translocation can be gleaned from kinetic data and total internal reflection fluorescence (TIRF) microscopy. The TIRF data was acquired and analyzed long after other methods were used to discover significant portions of the signaling cascade and retention mechanisms (43). In the basal state, the vast majority of GLUT4 is sequestered intracellularly. One fraction of GLUT4 colocalizes with markers of the recycling endosome (such as the transferrin receptor), while another fraction colocalizes with the Golgi network or endoplasmic reticulum (44).

The dynamics of the GLUT4 transporter have been the subject of much study and controversy. In unstimulated adipocytes and myocytes, the balance of movement to the plasma membrane and to intracellular compartments favors intracellular compartments (45). When insulin (or in the case of myocytes, a contraction or other activating signal) is present, then the balance favors GLUT4 to be inserted into the plasma membrane. This could occur because of a decreased rate of endocytosis or an increased rate of exocytosis. Although the former may occur to a small extent, most data support a model in which the main effect of insulin is to increase GLUT4 at the plasma membrane by increasing the exocytotic arm of the GLUT4 recycling pathway (46).

While it is clear that insulin increases the amount of GLUT4 in the plasma membrane, the mechanism by which GLUT4 is retained and cycled to the plasma membrane remains unclear. One model, advocated by McGraw and others, proposes that, even in the basal state, all GLUT4 in the cell will cycle to the plasma membrane. Another model, advocated by James and others, proposes that in the basal state, some fraction of GLUT4 is sequestered intracellularly, and will not cycle to the plasma membrane unless stimulated by insulin (45). The evidence for each of these models is seemingly quite strong. One notable study showed that all GLUT4 in the cell eventually cycles to the plasma membrane, even in the basal state (47). Evidence that may reconcile these two seemingly contradictory models was published in 2008 (48). In these experiments, re-

plating adipocytes after differentiation caused a much higher proportion of GLUT4 to cycle to the plasma membrane in the basal state. To a large degree, re-plating the cells appeared to disrupt the static retention of GLUT4 in the basal state and cause more GLUT4 to cycle to the plasma membrane, even in the absence of insulin. These observations suggested that the cycling seen in re-plated cells might be an artifact of the disruption.

To allow for the regulation of glucose uptake into fat and muscle cells, GLUT4 glucose transporters are sequestered intracellularly during the basal (low insulin) state. TUG proteins, encoded by the ASPSCR1 gene, play an important role in this process; they serve as anchors that retain GLUT4 in a pool of intracellular "GLUT4 storage vesicles" (GSVs) (49). In addition to GLUT4, GSVs contain insulin-regulated aminopeptidase (IRAP), sortilin, vesicle-associated membrane protein (VAMP2), and low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) (50). The physiologic rationale for having this set of cargos grouped together, all mobilized downstream of insulin signaling, is not clear. For example, the role of IRAP, another cargo and a transmembrane aminopeptidase, involves cleaving several peptide hormones. In a mouse model, vasopressin was shown be a substrate for IRAP, and IRAP-deficient mice had significantly increased levels of vasopressin (51).

TUG was first recognized as a downstream effector of insulin from a functional screen that studied GLUT4 localization (52). Subsequent work aimed to understand the mechanism of its action; while the functional screen identified the TUG protein as having some role in GLUT4 localization, its relative importance in GLUT4 mobilization to the plasma membrane and thus glucose disposal was not known.

A major advance in understanding the importance of TUG came in 2007, with the publication of a study that showed that small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) targeted against the TUG protein mimicked much of the effect of insulin. In cells expressing the siRNAs, GLUT4 translocated from intracellular storage to the plasma membrane, even in the basal (unstimulated) state. This effect could be slightly increased by stimulation with insulin (49). The role of TUG was further illuminated by the discovery that TUG directly binds to an intracellular loop of GLUT4 (49). It appeared that TUG, under the action of insulin, released stored GLUT4 from the Golgi to the plasma membrane. But, how, specifically, did insulin mediate this effect through TUG? Clarification on this point was made in 2012, when it was discovered that under the action of insulin, the intact TUG protein was cleaved at a specific location, between residues 164 and 165 of the intact 550 residue mouse TUG protein. The result of this cleavage is to divide the 60 kDa intact TUG protein into a 42 kDa C-terminal product and an 18 kDa N-terminal product (53). The current understanding of the role of TUG is that insulin stimulates the endoproteolytic cleavage of TUG to mobilize the GSVs for translocation to the cell surface, so that GLUT4 is inserted into the plasma membrane. Once in the plasma membrane, GLUT4 transports glucose into the cell via facilitated diffusion (53).

To gain further insight into the mechanisms of insulin action, the fusion of individual GSVs in 3T3-L1 adipocytes was monitored in live cells. These experiments required the development of a new approach, because biochemical assays can neither determine the location of GLUT4 at individual trafficking steps nor distinguish between greater abundance of GLUT4 in a compartment due to increased exocytosis or decreased endocytosis (43). The new approach for tracking individual vesicles containing GLUT4

took advantage of TIRF microscopy and a new GSV reporter, VAMP2-pHluorin. The key motivating questions for this work were two-fold: (1) when GLUT4 is inserted into the plasma membrane, did the GLUT4 molecules come from a GSV or an endosome? And (2), what processes could change the relative amounts of GLUT4 from each of these two source compartments at the plasma membrane?

Although GLUT4 trafficking dynamics remain an area of active research, the results of this work strongly suggested that GLUT4 resides in two major compartments, GSVs and endosomes, in cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes (54, 55). Although distinguishing between these two compartments biochemically based on the different cargo proteins is straightforward, tracking individual fusion events in a live cell is challenging. GSVs and endosomes contain different proteins and also differ greatly in size. GSVs are about 50-70 nm in diameter, while endosomes are much larger, around 100-250 nm in diameter (56). TIRF microscopy enabled the size of individual fusion events to be measured and the moment of docking and fusion to be determined. The experiments suggested that there were two distinct sizes of GLUT4-containing vesicles at fusion: in pre-adipocytes, the size of the vesicles was  $153 \pm 42$  nm (consistent with the size of endosomes), but in 3T3-L1 adjpocytes, the size of the vesicles was just 56 nm +/- 27 nm (consistent with the size of GSVs, which are present in adipocytes but not pre-adipocytes) (43, 56). Finally, in cells with a TUG knockdown, the exocytotic rate of GSVs was similar to the exocytotic rate of control 3T3-L1 adipocytes during insulin stimulation. This last observation supports a model in which TUG retains GLUT4 in the basal state and is cleaved upon insulin stimulation. A model of TUGs action is summarized in Fig. 1 (36).

While these TIRF studies indicate that TUG is important for trafficking in insulin responsive cells, the role of TUG in protein trafficking may extend to other cell types as well. For example, in HeLa cells, TUG was found localized in the endoplasmic reticulum-to-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) and the endoplasmic reticulum exit sites (ERES). The vast majority of TUG was bound to p97/VCP, which is a hexamaric ATPase that is important in membrane fusion and proteolysis. In these HeLa cells, TUG caused disassembly of hexamers into monomers, controlling their functional status. Furthermore, a knockdown of TUG disrupted the Golgi. These results suggest that TUG may have an important role in the early secretory pathway in multiple cell types, not only in adipocytes and myocytes (57).

Most recently, the mechanism of GSV movement from the Golgi to the plasma membrane has been described in detail. This discovery was underpinned by the observation that an antibody directed against the 18 kDa N-terminal product of TUG cleavage also detected a protein of approximately 130 kDa. This product was not seen after knockdown of TUG or without insulin stimulation, suggesting that this is a specific band (49). Analysis of the 18 kDa N-terminal cleavage product revealed that it contained two ubiquitin-like domains, and ended in a diglycine motif. These characteristics, along with evidence of the 18 kDa covalently attaching to another protein to form the 130 kDa product, led investigators to hypothesize that the N-terminal product was acting in a similar manner to a ubiquitin-like modifier. As a result, it was named TUGUL (TUG Ubiquitin-Like).

Ubiquitin is best known for its role in covalently attaching to numerous proteins and targeting them for destruction in the proteasome. Ubiquitination is similar to phosphorylation and acetylation in that they are post-translational modifications that change protein function. In the context of a cell's acute response to increased insulin concentration and translocation of GLUT4, the short timescale of a post-translational modification is important, as changes in gene transcription and translation are too slow to either dispose of glucose in a post-prandial setting, or to allow a cell to increase glucose transport when it has an acute need for more energy.

Ubiquitin is one of a family of similar modifiers termed ubiquitin-liked modifiers (UBLs). While the short time course of action is similar to small molecule modifiers, there are a number of differences (58). Ubiquitin is a 76-residue protein, highly conserved among eukaryotes but absent from bacteria and archaea (59). Interestingly, while UBLs do not always share high sequence similarly, they have a similar threedimensional structure (59, 60). The structure of UBLs, because of their size and diversity, exhibit functions that differ from small molecules. For example, UBLs can alter protein conformation or protein-protein interactions (58). In general, UBLs are synthesized as non-functional precursors. Next, the protein is modified so that there is a Gly-Gly motif at the C-terminus, the site of attachment to the target. This step is carried out by a group of enzymes termed de-ubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs). An ubiquitin-activation enzyme, termed E1, then adenylates the modified C-terminus. The ubiquitin molecule is passed to a cysteinyl group on the second ubiquitin-conjugation enzyme, E2. The final step is accomplished by a ubiquitin-protein ligase, called E3 (58). There numerous types of E2 and E3 enzymes, not just one form. As the list of UBLs grows, it has been challenging to identify which features are unique, and which are common to all UBLs. E3 appears to not always be required; among other examples, small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO)

appears to not always require E3 activity (58). Of possible relevance to GLUT4 trafficking is the observation that membrane-protein-sorting factors are monoubiquinated. Ubiquitin thus appears to serve as an important modification to direct many types of cell traffic to different compartments, depending on cytosolic conditions (61). The identification of TUGUL as a novel ubiquitin-like protein modifier implied that a DUB, as well as E1, E2, and E3-like enzymes, may be involved in insulin action, and that these proteins may mediate TUGUL generation and covalent modification of a target protein to promote glucose uptake (62).

### 1.4. Thyroid hormone agonists

Using thyroid hormone mimetics to agonize receptors has the potential to increase lipid metabolism, decrease low-density lipoprotein (LDL), increase energy expenditure, and increase thermogenesis (63). Thyroid hormones exert their effects by action at one of three nuclear receptors: TR  $\alpha$ , TR  $\beta$  1, and TR  $\beta$  2, that are distributed in a tissue specific fashion (63). Naturally occurring thyroid hormone acts equally on all three of these receptors. An agonist that has desirable metabolic effects could also agonize thyroid receptors in all tissues, causing ill effects such as tachyarrhythmias, osteoporosis, agitation, or psychosis (63). One strategy to exploit the positive metabolic benefits of thyroid hormone actions while negating the harmful effects is to develop synthetic analogs that agonize only one receptor. The TR  $\beta$  1 predominates in the liver, so this is an attractive target (63). A recent study that tested two thyroid hormone TR  $\beta$  1 agonists showed that while fat accumulation in liver was markedly decreased in the presence of TR  $\beta$  1, sensitivity to insulin also decreased. One of these TR  $\beta$  1 agonists, KB-2115, caused a notable decrease in GLUT4 and TUG, yet sortilin, a marker of GSVs, was not reduced (63). One explanation for the decreased sensitivity to insulin, as well as decreased TUG and GLUT4 in the presence of KB-2115, could be that even though GSVs are formed, they are not sequestered in an insulin-responsive pool as is normal (63).

#### 1.5. Exercise-induced glucose uptake in muscle and the role of AMPK

In addition to insulin, exercise also increases GLUT4 in the plasma membrane. During exercise, there is a large increase in the demand for ATP. Early in the exercise period, stored glycogen is the main source of energy. But, as the length of the exercise period continues and glycogen stores become exhausted, blood glucose accounts for around 35% of oxidative metabolism and nearly all of the muscle carbohydrate metabolism (64). Regular exercise improves glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes (65). In some ways, this is intuitive: acute increased demand for glucose in muscle cells reduces the concentration of glucose in the serum. But type 2 diabetes is marked by insensitivity to insulin, which among its many functions, is crucial to disposal of serum glucose in muscle in the post-prandial period. Thus it is actually an important finding that even in patients who are resistant to insulin's effect on glucose disposal, exercise-induced glucose disposal mechanisms are still intact. The results of Martin and others – suggesting that the main cause of reduced blood glucose after exercise in patients with type 2 diabetes is increased muscle uptake of glucose instead of reduced glucose output by the liver - further confirmed a key difference between insulin and exerciseinduced glucose uptake in muscle (64, 66). Together, these results could lead to new

therapeutic strategies, as at least some mechanisms for glucose uptake are still intact in patients with type 2 diabetes.

Ruling out decreased hepatic glucose production as the cause of decreased serum glucose after exercise does not identify the rate-limiting step at the level of the muscle tissue. In vivo, the rate-limiting step could be glucose delivery to the skeletal muscle, glucose transport across the plasma membrane, or flux through intracellular metabolism (64). At first glance, the most likely candidate might seem to be increased glucose delivery, as blood flow can increase up to 20-fold (at least partly due to IRAP, a GSV cargo that degrades vasopressin) during exercise (64, 67). In fact, all three of these elements probably play some role in glucose disposal, but compelling evidence points towards transport across the plasma membrane as the key regulatory step (68). Two aspects of this research have important implications for GLUT4 trafficking to the plasma membrane: (1) contraction-stimulated uptake is normal in subjects resistant to insulin, and (2) glucose uptake (and hence GLUT4 trafficking to the plasma membrane) is a crucial regulatory step in exercise. Two intriguing questions, then, are what steps in the signaling pathway are common to both exercise and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, and where is the derangement in insulin resistance such that insulin does not cause normal GLUT4 trafficking, but exercise does? These are outstanding challenges for the field, but we address some commonalities between the signaling pathways of exerciseinduced and insulin-induced GLUT4 translocation in the results section.

Upstream in the signaling pathway, AMPK (5' adenosine monophosphateactivated protein kinase) acts as important energy sensor in exercising muscles. It is activated in low energy states, causing the cell to decrease ATP consumption and

increase ATP production. In other words, it acts as a metabolic switch, shifting the body from an anabolic state to a catabolic state (69). The degree of anabolic or catabolic status is primarily determined by the ratio of AMP and ADP to ATP. Initially, AMP was thought to be the primary activator of AMPK, but more recent studies have suggested that ADP is in fact a more important regulator (70). Along with its major upstream kinase, liver kinase B1 (LKB1), AMPK is the most widely-studied protein implicated in skeletal muscle glucose transport in response to exercise (71). It is a heterotrimer of three subunits: a catalytic susubunit, as well as  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  subunits. There are several isoforms of the subunits that are expressed in different cell types. The critical serine-threonine kinase domain is in the  $\alpha$  ssubunit and the activating residue is Thr<sup>172</sup> (69). Mutations to the  $\gamma$  subunit have been implicated in cardiac disease. The gene (PRKAG2), which encodes the  $\gamma 2$  subunit, is linked to familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) associated with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. While the more common forms of HCM involve sarcomeres, PRKAG2 syndrome is associated with accumulation of glycogen in cardiac myocytes and does not involve disarray of the fibers of the cardiac myocytes (69, 72).

In the heart, numerous factors can increase AMPK activity, including physiological stress, hormones, or drugs, including metformin, phenformin, thiazolidinediones, salicylates, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide riboside (AICAR), and A-769662 (69). Interestingly, insulin actually decreases activation of AMPK through the Akt pathway (69, 73). In addition to the short-term effects of the activation of AMPK, the  $\alpha$  2 isoform has a nuclear localization signal. Translocation to the nucleus appears to require activation by phosphorylation at Thr<sup>172</sup> (69, 74).

AMPK is required for insulin-independent GLUT4 translocation during states of energy stress, such as cardiac ischemia or skeletal muscle contraction (75-77). In 1999, it was found that AMPK mediates GLUT4 translocation independently of the PI3K pathway, an important insight for cardiac physiology (78). AMPK activation also enhances the sensitivity of muscle cells to insulin-dependent GLUT4 translocation and glucose uptake, and may mediate the enhanced insulin sensitivity that occurs after exercise (40, 79). Increased disposal of glucose in the acute post-exercise period (about 2-3 hours) is insulin-independent. But after this acute effect wears off, enhanced muscle and whole body insulin sensitivity can persist for up to 48 hours (40). AMPK can be activated by high doses of metformin (80). Phenformin, a similar compound to metformin, poisons the mitochondria, interfering with complex I of the electron transport chain, slowing the production of ATP, and thus decreasing the ratio of ATP to AMP (81).

The first known drug that was shown to activate AMPK in cells was AICAR (82). AICAR, an adenosine analog, is taken up by cells via adenosine transporters and phosphorylated by adenosine kinase, which generates an AMP mimic, AICAR monophosphate (ZMP) (83). In a screen of compounds for activators of AMPK, a drug named A-592017 was a promising candidate after the initial screen. After optimization, an even more potent activator, A-769662, was developed (82, 84). One rationale for this kind of search for a more potent and direct activator of AMPK is to gain the therapeutic effects seen with the biguanides while reducing or eliminating the side effects which may stem from the biguanides inhibiting the respiratory chain, rather than from the direct activation of AMPK (82). A-769662 is thought to work by directly activating AMPK through two mechanisms: allosteric activation and inhibition of dephosphyorlylation (82). The therapeutic effect of metformin to lower the blood glucose level of patients with type 2 diabetes is due to the action of metformin on hepatic glucose production, although metformin has also been proposed to increase skeletal muscle glucose uptake mediated through its action on AMPK (85). The mechanism for decreased glucose production by the liver is metformin's targeting of a mitochondrial enzyme that controls the cellular redox state, as well as ATP production. Thus, activation of AMPK may not be necessary for this reduction (86-88). The specific enzyme affected by metformin was recently discovered, after the observation that animals treated with biguanides had increased levels of lactate. Metformin non-competitively inhibits the redox shuttle enzyme mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase. This process reduces the conversion of lactate and glycerol to glucose, and thus decreases hepatic gluconeogenesis (86).

Recent results showed that after induced cardiac ischemia, well-known to activate AMPK, with subsequent reperfusion (I/R), TUG is cleaved, at least partly explaining increased GLUT4 and other GSV cargos at the plasma membrane after reperfusion (89).

In addition to AMPK, calmodulin signaling and calmodulin-dependent protein kinases (CaMKs) have been implicated as vital components of exercise-stimulated skeletal muscle glucose uptake (90). Whether this path is independent of AMPK is controversial. In support of a model in which CaMKs are independent of AMPK, studies have shown that the incubation of rat skeletal muscle with KN-93, a Ca<sup>2+</sup>Calmodulin inhibitor, decreased the uptake of glucose after contraction (71, 91). These studies also demonstrated significant inhibition of exercise-induced Cam-KII phosphorylation without AMPK inhibition.

On the other hand, a number of studies support a model in which AMPK activation is required for contraction-mediated glucose uptake in muscle cells. These studies were conducted in incubated soleus muscles from wildtype mice and mice with a muscle specific-kinase-dead (KD) AMPK,  $\alpha$  1 AMPK knockout, or  $\alpha$  2 AMPK knockout. Glucose uptake was monitored using 2-deoxyglucose. Muscle contraction increased the activity of the  $\alpha$  1 subunit of AMPK mice, but not the  $\alpha$  2 subunit of AMPK mice (92). These studies also showed that when CaMK signaling was inhibited with KN-93, contraction-induced skeletal muscle glucose uptake through an AMPK-dependent signaling pathway was also inhibited (71, 92).

### 1.6. Mouse model of type 2 diabetes mellitus

To effectively study type 2 diabetes, a model that reproduces the phenotype is required. The two major methods for producing a mouse model of type 2 diabetes are genetic manipulation and diet induction. Mice fed a high fat diet (HFD) are well known to develop insulin resistance (93). A major advantage of using a high fat diet to induce type 2 diabetes phenotypes is the large number of genes identified in genome-wide association studies (GWAS). Over 50 genes have been implicated in humans, so one mouse model cannot replicate this diversity (93). While mice with genetic deficits, such as the ob/ob mouse, have some utility in studying type 2 diabetes mellitus, HFD-fed mice exhibit a more physiologic model than that of monogenetic mutations.

#### 2. Statement of purpose, specific hypothesis, and specific aims

This thesis encompasses three distinct parts that together seek to elucidate the mechanism of GLUT4 translocation to the plasma membrane and the derangements in this process in patients with insulin resistance.

Specifically, we hypothesize that the protease Usp25m (ubiquitin specific peptidase 25) interacts with TUG. This work is part of a larger project aimed at showing that Usp25m is responsible for insulin-dependent endoproteolytic cleavage of the TUG protein, and as discussed in detail below, Usp25m is also likely responsible for insulin-independent (AMPK-mediated) TUG cleavage. The project was motivated by preliminary data that suggested that Usp25m might be a candidate protease to cleave the TUG protein. In our model, Usp25m directly cleaves the 60 kDa intact TUG protein into a 42 kDa C-terminal product and an 18 kDa N-terminal product. As a first step towards confirming the identity of the TUG protease, it is necessary to show that Usp25 associates with TUG, using coimmunoprecipitation.

Insulin is not the sole mediator of increased GLUT4 at the plasma membrane. We further hypothesize that (1) activated AMPK phosphorylates TUG, and (2) in both an insulin-dependent (as discussed above) and insulin-independent manner, Usp25m is the protease that cleaves TUG, ultimately resulting in GLUT4 mobilization to the cell surface. This proposed mechanism can account for, at least in part, how AMPK activation increases glucose uptake independent of insulin.

Our preliminary data suggested that TUG is a direct target of AMPK-mediated phosphorylation, at least in vitro, and that the specific residue at which AMPK-mediated phosphorylation of TUG occurs is Threonine-57 (T57), which is within the first

ubiquitin-like domain of TUG (94). There is significant evidence that the presence of AMPK increases the amount of GLUT4 embedded in the plasma membrane of fat and muscle cells, but the mechanism for this process is not understood (85). The results of our study will shed light on this mechanism, an important piece of the metabolic response to muscle contraction and cardiac ischemia. If AMPK-mediated TUG cleavage produces the same 42 kDa C-terminal and N-terminal 18 kDa products as insulin-mediated TUG cleavage, it is likely that Usp25m is the protease at the end of the signaling cascade in both pathways.

Finally, in order to better understand the mechanics of insulin resistance in an invivo model, we also hypothesize that using a model known to simulate the physiologic effects of insulin resistance, a high fat diet, cleavage of TUG will be impaired after treatment with insulin. If, as discussed in the introduction, TUG has an important role in tethering GSVs intracellularly in the basal state, and GSVs are then liberated upon insulin stimulation, there should be a difference in the abundance full length and proteolytic products of TUG after insulin stimulation. To look into this, we will examine TUG proteolysis in a mouse model that replicates insulin resistance. Together, this work aims to connect highly detailed mechanistic data gleaned from cultured cells with a wellestablished animal model of type 2 diabetes mellitus.

#### 3. Methods

#### 3.1 Reagents and cell culture

Polyclonal rabbit antisera directed against the TUG C-terminus have been previously described (95). Antibodies to GLUT4 were also previously described (95).

Other antibodies were purchased, including antibodies directed against the following:  $\beta$  - actin (ThermoFisher Scientific, catalog no. MA5-15739), Usp25 (Abcam ab187156),  $\alpha$  - tubulin (Sigma T5168), Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (Cell Signaling catalog no. 97166), and Phospho-Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase (Cell Signaling, no. 3661). A number of plasmids were kind gifts. The plasmids to express myc-Usp25a and myc-Usp25m are from Dr. Gemma Marfany (96). Chemicals were obtained from MilliporeSigma unless otherwise noted.

3T3-L1 adipocytes, HEK 293, and HeLa cells were cultured in high-glucose DMEM GlutaMAX medium (Invitrogen) containing 10% bovine growth serum (BGS; EquaFetal) and plasmocin (Invitrogen). 3T3-L1 adipocytes that were infected with a puromycin resistance gene were also treated with puromycin (Sigma no. P9620) at 10 µg/mL. 3T3-L1 adipocytes were differentiated in 10% BGS with supplements, as described previously in the literature (95).

AMPK was activated in cell culture with either A-769662 (Cayman Chemical, no. 11900) at 100  $\mu$ M or phenformin (Sigma no. P7045) at 4 mM. To increase calcium concentration, ionomycin (Cayman Chemical no. 11932) was used at 1  $\mu$ M. For in vivo mice experiments, AICAR (Sigma, no. A9978) was used at a concentration of 0.25 mg/g to activate AMPK (75). All live mice work was conducted by Dr. Estifanos Habtemichael and Don Li.

For transient transfections of HeLa cells, mouse embryonic fibroblasts and 3T3-L1 adipocytes, the following protocol was used: for each 10 cm plate, Lipofectamine reagent (10  $\mu$ L unless otherwise noted) was incubated with 0.25 mL DMEM for 5 minutes. The plasmid (4g, unless otherwise noted) to be transfected was also incubated with 0.25 mL DMEM for 5 minutes. These two mixtures were then combined using mild mixing motion and incubated for 20 minutes. After incubation, the mixture was added drop wise to a 10 cm dish, and gently mixed. Unless otherwise noted, cells were harvested 48 hours after transfection.

For AMPK experiments, cells were serum starved in DMEM for 1 hour unless otherwise noted. Cells were lysed in TNET buffer as described by Belman et al. (95), the only difference being that 1% Nonidet P-40 was used in place of 1% Triton-100. SDS-PAGE and immunoblots were performed as described previously (95). Images were acquired on HyBlot film (Denville) using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) (Pierce). Densitometry of films was done using transillumination (Epson Perfection V700 scanner), and was quantified using ImageJ.

Coimmunoprecipitation was performed using the same buffer as described above. After lysis, anti c-Myc affinity gel was added, and incubated overnight at 4°C. After 6 washes in the same buffer, elution was done in glycine.

#### 3.2. Mice

Animal protocols were approved by the Yale University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. All animals were handled and sacrificed by Dr. Estifanos Habtemichael and Don Li. The animals were housed at the Yale Animal Research Center at 22°C (+/- 2 degrees), with light from 0700-1900 and dark from 1900-0700. Animals were given free access to chow (Harlan-Teklad 2018, 5% calories from fat, unless otherwise noted) and water. High fat diet mice were fed ResearchDiets D12492 (60% kcal from fat) for three weeks before sacrificing. 30 minutes after treatment with AICAR or phosphate buffered saline (placebo), animals were sacrificed, and muscles were collected and flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and immediately stored at -80°C. For Western blots, tissue was thawed, then lysed in 1% Nonidet P-40 lysis buffer as described above. Tissues were lysed for 3 minutes at 30 Hz (Qiagen TissueLyser II) in pre-chilled 4°C clamps. Lysates were centrifuged at 13200 rpm for 15 minutes, and western blotting was conducted (62).

#### 4. Results

#### 4.1. Usp25m interacts with TUG

Previous results showed that insulin stimulates the cleavage of the 60 kDa TUG protein into an 18 kDa N-terminal product and a 42 kDa C-terminal product (53). Our data implicated Usp25 as a candidate protease that cleaves the intact TUG protein. Our experiments also showed that Usp25m (a muscle specific isoform of Usp25) expression increases in 3T3-L1 adipocytes as they differentiate from fibroblasts. These results were published in 2018 as part of a larger study (62).

My specific role in the project was to confirm that Usp25 interacts with TUG. The results of the coimmunoprecipitation experiments (Fig. 2) demonstrated that Usp25m did indeed interact with TUG, and that this interaction was specific to Usp25m, not the ubiquitous form of the protease, Usp25a (62, 97). The results of these experiments (Fig. 2) were published as Figure 1D in the above-referenced paper (62). Both the whole cell lysate and the fraction that was immunoprecipitated with anti-Myc antibody and eluted were immunobloted to show that absence of protein in the eluted fraction was not due to lack of protein in the whole cell lysate.

#### 4.2. TUG cleavage differences in HFD and regular chow (RC) fed mice

Previous studies have shown that mice on a HFD have a whole-body insulin resistance phenotype (98). To investigate whether mice fed a HFD had impaired cleavage of TUG, wild-type mice were fed regular chow (RC) or a high fat diet (HFD) for three weeks. They were fasted, then treated with intraperitoneal injection of insulin-glucose solution or saline control. After 30 minutes, mice were euthanized, hindlimb muscles were isolated, and lysates were prepared and immunoblotted using an antibody to the TUG C-terminus. Immunoblots (Fig. 3) were made from the lysates of quadriceps. Samples from the mice fed a HFD had over a 2-fold decrease in cleavage of TUG compared with mice fed RC (Fig. 3). This result draws an important connection between in vitro studies describing the mechanism of GLUT4 retention and translocation and in vivo studies in a validated mammal model of insulin resistance.

#### 4.3. Activated AMPK

Mice were treated with intraperitoneal AICAR, a known activator of AMPK. This was used at a concentration of 0.25 mg/g, dissolved in PBS, and injected intraperitoneally. PBS alone was used as a control. Mice were sacrificed 30 minutes after injections (99). Immunoblots were made from lysates of cardiac and skeletal muscle. There was a reduced abundance of intact TUG in lysates of the quadriceps muscle from mice with AMPK treated with AICAR, compared to controls treated with saline (not shown). With only 3 animals in each group however, this result was not statistically significant.

In cardiac muscle, animals treated with AICAR had significantly reduced intact TUG (Fig. 4). The short 30 minute period between the administration of AICAR and sacrificing the animals suggests that the observed reduction in TUG is an acute effect, possibly due to proteolytic processing. The 30 minute period would be too short to see an effect on gene expression. C-terminal TUG cleavage product was not visualized in muscle lysates, but was in cell culture. The reason for this difference could be either that the 42 kDa product was incorporated into the pellet with insoluble material from the preparation, or because of degradation.

We used two different methods to activate AMPK in cell culture, phenformin and a combination of A-769662 and ionomycin. In non-insulin responsive cells, specifically HeLa cells and mouse embryonic fibroblasts, we saw no difference in TUG cleavage between culture cells treated with these two methods of activating AMPK and nontreated controls, despite confirming that AMPK was active by measuring Phospho-Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase (pACC; not shown). We then repeated the experiment, this time using insulin responsive cells (3T3-L1 adipocytes), and still treating with A-769662 at 100  $\mu$ M for one hour and ionomycin at 1 $\mu$ M for 20 minutes to increase the calcium concentration. Again, pACC was quantified to assess AMPK activation. A significant ~2fold increase in cleavage of TUG was seen in cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes (Fig. 5). A cleavage product of 42 kDa detected by an antibody raised against the C-terminal portion of the TUG protein was observed, which is the same fragment detected in insulinstimulated TUG cleavage, implying that end of the signal cascade in both AMPK and insulin mediated TUG cleavage is the same. AICAR is commonly used experimentally to activate AMPK, but its complicated pharmacology as well as off target effects can make

determining the mechanisms difficult (69). One rationale of using a more direct AMPK activator, A-769662, for cell culture studies is that the results can more reliably give information about the mechanism of GLUT4 translocation.

Notably, previous results had shown that ischemia activates AMPK in cardiac muscle, and that AMPK-deficient mouse hearts expressing a kinase dead  $\alpha$  2 catalytic subunit had reduced uptake of glucose into the cardiac muscle (100). More recent results had also showed that TUG might mediate this effect on glucose uptake (89).

In primary tissue, processing of the lysate frequently causes the 42 kDa Cterminal cleavage product to be undetectable, likely because this product is with the nuclear fraction after centrifugation. Thus, in primary tissue, the change in abundance of the full-length TUG protein is used to assess cleavage, as in Fig. 4. In contrast, in cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes, the baseline abundance of full-length TUG is so great that the most effective method for assessing proteolysis of TUG is by measuring the abundance of cleavage products, usually the 42 kDa C-terminal product.



**Figure 1: Model of GLUT4 trafficking**. After endocytosis (1), GLUT4 enters the early endosome and proceeds to the recycling endosome and trans-Golgi network by a retrograde trafficking pathway (2). GLUT4 storage vesicles (GSVs) bud from the recycling endosome and/or from Golgi membranes (3) and are sequestered by the action of TUG, which links the vesicles to the Golgi matrix (4). Insulin stimulates TUG cleavage to release the GSVs, which are transported along microtubules (5) to the plasma membrane. At the plasma membrane, the vesicles are tethered (6), dock (7), and fuse (8) in processes that are also regulated by insulin. GLUT4 that is endocytosed in the presence of ongoing insulin exposure recycles back to the plasma membrane directly from endosomes (9) and bypasses the GSV sequestration mechanism. Diagram adapted from Ref. (36).



Figure 2: TUG interacts preferentially with the muscle splice form of Usp25, Usp25m, compared to the more widespread variant, Usp25a. The indicated proteins were transfected in 293 cells. Cells were lysed and the myc-tagged Usp25 proteins were immunoprecipitated. Eluates were immunoblotted to detect TUG. Published as Figure 1D of Habtemichael et al. 2018 (62).



**Figure 3:** Insulin-stimulated TUG endoproteolytic cleavage is reduced in muscles of mice fed a high-fat diet, compared to those maintained on regular chow. Mice were fed regular chow (RC) or a high fat diet (HFD) for three weeks. They were fasted, then treated with intraperitoneal injection of insulin-glucose solution, or saline control. After 30 min., mice were euthanized, hindlimb muscles were isolated, and lysates were prepared and immunoblotted using an antibody to the TUG C-terminus. Representative immunoblots are shown at left. Data from replicate experiments were quantified and are plotted on the right.



Figure 4: Mice treated with intraperitoneal AICAR have decreased abundance of intact TUG in cardiac muscle, consistent with AMPK-stimulated TUG cleavage. Mice were fasted, then treated by intraperitoneal injection of AICAR or saline control, as described in the Methods section. After 30 minutes, mice were sacrificed, lysates were prepared from hearts, and immunoblots were done as indicated (left panel). Although TUG cleavage products were not observed, the abundance of intact TUG was reduced after AICAR treatment. Densitometry was done to quantify the effect, and is shown in the right panel.



**Figure 5:** A-769662 and ionomycin treatment causes activation of AMPK and TUG cleavage in adipocytes. 3T3-L1 adipocytes were cultured in serum free media and left untreated (Basal) or stimulated using A-769662 and ionomycin. Cells were then lysed and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting to detect the TUG C-terminal cleavage product, intact TUG, phosphorylated Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC), and a loading control, GAPDH. A. Representative immunoblots are shown. B. The abundance of the TUG C-terminal product was quantified using densitometry, and is plotted. C. The abundance of phosphor-ACC was quantified and is plotted, and confirms that AMPK was activated in the treated cells.

#### 5. Discussion

#### 5.1. Usp25m interacts with TUG

The results presented here help to characterize the mechanisms downstream of insulin signaling and AMPK activation that trigger GLUT4 translocation to the plasma membrane. Coimmunoprecipitation experiments show that TUG can be purified with the Usp25m isoform, but not the Usp25a isoform. This work contributes to the characterization of the proteolysis that results in cleavage of TUG.

Further work done by other members of Jonathan Bogan's laboratory strongly supports a model in which Usp25m is the protease responsible for insulin-regulated cleavage of the TUG protein (62). To put the data presented in Fig. 2 into a broader context, other results from Jonathan Bogan's laboratory have shown that the expression of Usp25m dramatically increases as 3T3-L1 adipocytes differentiate from fibroblasts, and that by day 4 of differentiation, Usp25m was near a maximal level. Furthermore, Usp25m could be copurified with TUG in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, and treatment with insulin caused the disassociation of Usp25m from TUG (62). Subcellular fractionation experiments also demonstrated that Usp25m co-localizes with GSVs. Specifically, insulin-regulated aminopeptidase (IRAP), which is present in GSVs, was mobilized out of the light microsome (LM) into the plasma membrane (PM) fraction, and Usp25 was mobilized to the cytosolic fraction (62). Lastly, knockdown of Usp25m in 3T3-L1 adipocytes using short hairpin RNA (shRNA) significantly ablated insulin-stimulated cleavage of the 60 kDa TUG protein in the 42 kDa C-terminal fragment and the 18 (or larger if modified) kDa N-terminal fragment (62).

#### *5.2. HFD inhibits TUG cleavage*

As discussed in the introduction, overnutrition is a proximate cause of insulin resistance, but the mechanisms are multifactorial and not well understood. Previous data supported a model in which TUG is cleaved in response to insulin stimulation, and, in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, Usp25m is the protease that cleaves the TUG protein (53, 62). Using a validated model of insulin resistance (3 weeks of high fat diet), our data demonstrated that TUG cleavage after insulin stimulation is drastically impaired in mice that are insulin resistant. Insulin resistant mice had over a two-fold decrease in insulin stimulated TUG cleavage compared to normal chow fed mice. Significantly reduced cleavage of TUG in an animal model that reproduces the insulin resistance phenotype offers support for TUG as a key tether that regulates GLUT4 abundance in the plasma membrane of adipocytes and myocytes, and thus serum glucose and insulin levels. A notable limitation of this work is that the mechanism of impaired TUG cleavage was not determined; it remains unclear if changes in the amount or activity of Usp25m affect TUG cleavage. Taken together with previous work, these results support a model of insulin-stimulated TUG cleavage as a key regulatory step for GLUT4 translocation to the plasma membrane that is deranged in an insulin resistant state.

#### 5.3. AMPK

Our results suggest that in the two major insulin-responsive cell types important for post-prandial glucose disposal, AMPK mediates cleavage of the TUG protein. AMPK has been mostly studied in skeletal muscle and in response to exercise. Thus, the results presented here in adipocytes contribute to the broader understanding of the similarities between insulin and non-insulin dependent mechanisms of GLUT4 translocation. Both in vivo (cardiac myocytes; Fig. 4) and in cultured adipocytes (Fig. 5), activation of AMPK stimulated TUG cleavage. The latter result confirms previous work that showed ischemia caused cleavage of TUG in cardiac myocytes (89). The observation that activated AMPK causes cleavage of TUG in cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes is significant because adipocytes are a well-established model cell type in diabetes research, amenable to modification for further study, and more established and reliable than myocyte cell lines.

Going forward, the signal cascade that controls AMPK-stimulated TUG cleavage remains the focus of active research. AMPK is a ubiquitous kinase and TUG proteins are expressed in numerous cell types, but activated AMPK does not cause cleavage of TUG in mouse embryonic fibroblasts or HeLa cells (see results in section 4.3). Usp25m is known to be the protease that cleaves TUG in adipocytes downstream of insulin (62). According to the results presented in this thesis, Usp25m also likely mediates TUG cleavage downstream of AMPK in adipocytes and myocytes. With both AMPK-mediated and insulin-mediated TUG cleavage, the same size proteolytic products are formed, supporting the hypothesis that Usp25m is an important protein not present at sufficient levels in non-insulin responsive cells.

Another area of active research is aimed at determining whether activated AMPK directly phosphorylates TUG, or if the interaction is indirect. If the interaction is direct, at what residue is TUG phosphorylated? As noted above, preliminary data suggest that T57 is a likely candidate, based on in vitro phosphorylation experiments using recombinant proteins. One way to study this would be to knock out TUG in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, and infect these cells with mutated forms of TUG – specifically, mutating the threonine

residue to alanine (T57A), which would block phosphorylation, and in another sample to glutamic acid (T57E), which may mimic phosphorylation. While knock out adipocytes are being generated, overexpression of the T57A mutant would be a good next step to study this effect. 3T3-L1 adipocytes contain endogenous TUG, however if the T57A mutation disrupts AMPK-stimulated proteolysis, then stabilization of this protein should still be observed. In this way, it may be possible to determine if AMPK and insulin both activate cleavage at the same site, as the results presented above may suggest.

Lastly, the physiologic role of increased glucose transport in the heart during states of ischemia could be explained by an increased demand for glucose to produce ATP. When oxygen, and consequently oxidative phosphorylation, are limited, anaerobic glycolysis is a low efficiency path to produce ATP. However, another explanation is also possible. As detailed in the introduction, GLUT4 is one cargo on GSVs, along with IRAP and LRP1. Perhaps GLUT4 is simply an extra cargo protein that is released to the cell surface along with the primary cargo. In ischemia, the problem is lack of blood flow, which not only decreases ATP production due to lack of glucose and fatty acids, but also decreases disposal of metabolic waste and perhaps, most importantly, stops the highest yield ATP formation step, oxidative phosphorylation. Given both the key role of oxygen, and the fact that in GSVs, there are about twice as many molecules of IRAP as GLUT4, it seems more likely that degradation of vasopressin and subsequent vasodilation would be the most important physiologic responses in the ischemic heart (101). These effects are likely not mutually exclusive; increased GLUT4 expression and thus glucose in cardiac muscles may well be useful during ischemia.

## References

- 1. Samuel VT, and Shulman GI. The pathogenesis of insulin resistance: integrating signaling pathways and substrate flux. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2016;126(1):12-22.
- Li C, Balluz L, and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (U.S.). Office of Surveillance Epidemiology and Laboratory Services. Surveillance of certain health behaviors and conditions among states and selected local areas : Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, United States, 2009. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2011.
- 3. Shulman GI. Ectopic fat in insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and cardiometabolic disease. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2014;371(12):1131-41.
- 4. Engelgau MM, Geiss LS, Saaddine JB, Boyle JP, Benjamin SM, Gregg EW, Tierney EF, Rios-Burrows N, Mokdad AH, Ford ES, et al. The evolving diabetes burden in the United States. *Ann Intern Med.* 2004;140(11):945-50.
- 5. Rothman DL, Magnusson I, Cline G, Gerard D, Kahn CR, Shulman RG, and Shulman GI. Decreased muscle glucose transport/phosphorylation is an early defect in the pathogenesis of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995;92(4):983-7.
- 6. Corkey BE. Banting lecture 2011: hyperinsulinemia: cause or consequence? *Diabetes*. 2012;61(1):4-13.
- 7. Pories WJ, and Dohm GL. Diabetes: have we got it all wrong? Hyperinsulinism as the culprit: surgery provides the evidence. *Diabetes care*. 2012;35(12):2438-42.
- 8. Parker VE, Savage DB, O'Rahilly S, and Semple RK. Mechanistic insights into insulin resistance in the genetic era. *Diabet Med.* 2011;28(12):1476-86.
- 9. Randle PJ, Garland PB, Hales CN, and Newsholme EA. The glucose fatty-acid cycle. Its role in insulin sensitivity and the metabolic disturbances of diabetes mellitus. *Lancet.* 1963;1(7285):785-9.
- 10. Perry RJ, Samuel VT, Petersen KF, and Shulman GI. The role of hepatic lipids in hepatic insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature*. 2014;510(7503):84-91.
- 11. Perseghin G, Ghosh S, Gerow K, and Shulman GI. Metabolic defects in lean nondiabetic offspring of NIDDM parents: a cross-sectional study. *Diabetes*. 1997;46(6):1001-9.
- 12. Shulman GI. Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest.* 2000;106(2):171-6.
- 13. Samuel VT, Liu ZX, Wang A, Beddow SA, Geisler JG, Kahn M, Zhang XM, Monia BP, Bhanot S, and Shulman GI. Inhibition of protein kinase Cepsilon prevents hepatic insulin resistance in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Clin Invest.* 2007;117(3):739-45.
- 14. Samuel VT, Liu ZX, Qu X, Elder BD, Bilz S, Befroy D, Romanelli AJ, and Shulman GI. Mechanism of hepatic insulin resistance in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(31):32345-53.
- 15. Lee HY, Lee JS, Alves T, Ladiges W, Rabinovitch PS, Jurczak MJ, Choi CS, Shulman GI, and Samuel VT. Mitochondrial-Targeted Catalase Protects Against

High-Fat Diet-Induced Muscle Insulin Resistance by Decreasing Intramuscular Lipid Accumulation. *Diabetes*. 2017;66(8):2072-81.

- Petersen MC, Madiraju AK, Gassaway BM, Marcel M, Nasiri AR, Butrico G, Marcucci MJ, Zhang D, Abulizi A, Zhang XM, et al. Insulin receptor Thr1160 phosphorylation mediates lipid-induced hepatic insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest.* 2016;126(11):4361-71.
- 17. Gassaway BM, Petersen MC, Surovtseva YV, Barber KW, Sheetz JB, Aerni HR, Merkel JS, Samuel VT, Shulman GI, and Rinehart J. PKCepsilon contributes to lipid-induced insulin resistance through cross talk with p70S6K and through previously unknown regulators of insulin signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2018;115(38):E8996-E9005.
- Maianu L, Keller SR, and Garvey WT. Adipocytes exhibit abnormal subcellular distribution and translocation of vesicles containing glucose transporter 4 and insulin-regulated aminopeptidase in type 2 diabetes mellitus: implications regarding defects in vesicle trafficking. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(11):5450-6.
- 19. Schwartz MW, Seeley RJ, Zeltser LM, Drewnowski A, Ravussin E, Redman LM, and Leibel RL. Obesity Pathogenesis: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocr Rev.* 2017;38(4):267-96.
- 20. Ludwig DS, and Ebbeling CB. The Carbohydrate-Insulin Model of Obesity: Beyond "Calories In, Calories Out". *JAMA Intern Med.* 2018;178(8):1098-103.
- 21. Ebbeling CB, Klein GL, Luoto PK, Wong JMW, Bielak L, Eddy RG, Steltz SK, Devlin C, Sandman M, Hron B, et al. A randomized study of dietary composition during weight-loss maintenance: Rationale, study design, intervention, and assessment. *Contemp Clin Trials*. 2018;65(76-86.
- 22. Walsh CO, Ebbeling CB, Swain JF, Markowitz RL, Feldman HA, and Ludwig DS. Effects of diet composition on postprandial energy availability during weight loss maintenance. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(3):e58172.
- 23. Hall KD, Guyenet SJ, and Leibel RL. The Carbohydrate-Insulin Model of Obesity Is Difficult to Reconcile With Current Evidence. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2018;178(8):1103-5.
- 24. Gardner CD, Trepanowski JF, Del Gobbo LC, Hauser ME, Rigdon J, Ioannidis JPA, Desai M, and King AC. Effect of Low-Fat vs Low-Carbohydrate Diet on 12-Month Weight Loss in Overweight Adults and the Association With Genotype Pattern or Insulin Secretion: The DIETFITS Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*. 2018;319(7):667-79.
- 25. Ebbeling CB, Feldman HA, Klein GL, Wong JMW, Bielak L, Steltz SK, Luoto PK, Wolfe RR, Wong WW, and Ludwig DS. Effects of a low carbohydrate diet on energy expenditure during weight loss maintenance: randomized trial. *BMJ*. 2018;363(k4583.
- 26. Suzuki K, and Kono T. Evidence that insulin causes translocation of glucose transport activity to the plasma membrane from an intracellular storage site. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1980;77(5):2542-5.
- 27. Cushman SW, and Wardzala LJ. Potential mechanism of insulin action on glucose transport in the isolated rat adipose cell. Apparent translocation of intracellular transport systems to the plasma membrane. *J Biol Chem.* 1980;255(10):4758-62.

- 28. Karnieli E, Zarnowski MJ, Hissin PJ, Simpson IA, Salans LB, and Cushman SW. Insulin-stimulated translocation of glucose transport systems in the isolated rat adipose cell. Time course, reversal, insulin concentration dependency, and relationship to glucose transport activity. *J Biol Chem.* 1981;256(10):4772-7.
- 29. Mueckler M, Caruso C, Baldwin SA, Panico M, Blench I, Morris HR, Allard WJ, Lienhard GE, and Lodish HF. Sequence and structure of a human glucose transporter. *Science*. 1985;229(4717):941-5.
- 30. James DE, Brown R, Navarro J, and Pilch PF. Insulin-regulatable tissues express a unique insulin-sensitive glucose transport protein. *Nature*. 1988;333(6169):183-5.
- 31. Birnbaum MJ. Identification of a novel gene encoding an insulin-responsive glucose transporter protein. *Cell*. 1989;57(2):305-15.
- 32. James DE, Strube M, and Mueckler M. Molecular cloning and characterization of an insulin-regulatable glucose transporter. *Nature*. 1989;338(6210):83-7.
- 33. Kaestner KH, Christy RJ, McLenithan JC, Braiterman LT, Cornelius P, Pekala PH, and Lane MD. Sequence, tissue distribution, and differential expression of mRNA for a putative insulin-responsive glucose transporter in mouse 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1989;86(9):3150-4.
- 34. Charron MJ, Brosius FC, 3rd, Alper SL, and Lodish HF. A glucose transport protein expressed predominately in insulin-responsive tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1989;86(8):2535-9.
- 35. Fukumoto H, Kayano T, Buse JB, Edwards Y, Pilch PF, Bell GI, and Seino S. Cloning and characterization of the major insulin-responsive glucose transporter expressed in human skeletal muscle and other insulin-responsive tissues. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264(14):7776-9.
- 36. Bogan JS. Regulation of glucose transporter translocation in health and diabetes. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 2012;81(507-32.
- 37. Belman JP, Habtemichael EN, and Bogan JS. A proteolytic pathway that controls glucose uptake in fat and muscle. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. 2014;15(1):55-66.
- 38. Saltiel AR, and Kahn CR. Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature*. 2001;414(6865):799-806.
- 39. Taniguchi CM, Emanuelli B, and Kahn CR. Critical nodes in signalling pathways: insights into insulin action. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2006;7(2):85-96.
- 40. Cartee GD. Mechanisms for greater insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in normal and insulin-resistant skeletal muscle after acute exercise. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2015;309(12):E949-59.
- 41. Jedrychowski MP, Gartner CA, Gygi SP, Zhou L, Herz J, Kandror KV, and Pilch PF. Proteomic analysis of GLUT4 storage vesicles reveals LRP1 to be an important vesicle component and target of insulin signaling. *J Biol Chem.* 2010;285(1):104-14.
- 42. Peck GR, Ye S, Pham V, Fernando RN, Macaulay SL, Chai SY, and Albiston AL. Interaction of the Akt substrate, AS160, with the glucose transporter 4 vesicle marker protein, insulin-regulated aminopeptidase. *Mol Endocrinol.* 2006;20(10):2576-83.

- 43. Xu Y, Rubin BR, Orme CM, Karpikov A, Yu C, Bogan JS, and Toomre DK. Dual-mode of insulin action controls GLUT4 vesicle exocytosis. *J Cell Biol.* 2011;193(4):643-53.
- 44. Sadler JB, Lamb CA, Gould GW, and Bryant NJ. Iodixanol Gradient Centrifugation to Separate Components of the Low-Density Membrane Fraction from 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *Cold Spring Harbor protocols*. 2016;2016(2):pdb.prot083709.
- 45. Dugani CB, and Klip A. Glucose transporter 4: cycling, compartments and controversies. *EMBO Rep.* 2005;6(12):1137-42.
- 46. Rudich A, and Klip A. Push/pull mechanisms of GLUT4 traffic in muscle cells. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 2003;178(4):297-308.
- 47. Foster LJ, Li D, Randhawa VK, and Klip A. Insulin accelerates inter-endosomal GLUT4 traffic via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and protein kinase B. *J Biol Chem.* 2001;276(47):44212-21.
- 48. Muretta JM, Romenskaia I, and Mastick CC. Insulin releases Glut4 from static storage compartments into cycling endosomes and increases the rate constant for Glut4 exocytosis. *J Biol Chem.* 2008;283(1):311-23.
- 49. Yu C, Cresswell J, Loffler MG, and Bogan JS. The glucose transporter 4regulating protein TUG is essential for highly insulin-responsive glucose uptake in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(10):7710-22.
- 50. Bogan JS, and Kandror KV. Biogenesis and regulation of insulin-responsive vesicles containing GLUT4. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 2010;22(4):506-12.
- 51. Wallis MG, Lankford MF, and Keller SR. Vasopressin is a physiological substrate for the insulin-regulated aminopeptidase IRAP. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2007;293(4):E1092-102.
- 52. Bogan JS, McKee AE, and Lodish HF. Insulin-responsive compartments containing GLUT4 in 3T3-L1 and CHO cells: regulation by amino acid concentrations. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2001;21(14):4785-806.
- 53. Bogan JS, Rubin BR, Yu C, Loffler MG, Orme CM, Belman JP, McNally LJ, Hao M, and Cresswell JA. Endoproteolytic cleavage of TUG protein regulates GLUT4 glucose transporter translocation. *J Biol Chem.* 2012;287(28):23932-47.
- 54. Loo LH, Lin HJ, Singh DK, Lyons KM, Altschuler SJ, and Wu LF. Heterogeneity in the physiological states and pharmacological responses of differentiating 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *J Cell Biol.* 2009;187(3):375-84.
- 55. Rubin BR, and Bogan JS. Intracellular retention and insulin-stimulated mobilization of GLUT4 glucose transporters. *Vitam Horm.* 2009;80(155-92.
- 56. Kandror KV, Coderre L, Pushkin AV, and Pilch PF. Comparison of glucosetransporter-containing vesicles from rat fat and muscle tissues: evidence for a unique endosomal compartment. *Biochem J.* 1995;307 (Pt 2)(383-90.
- 57. Orme CM, and Bogan JS. The ubiquitin regulatory X (UBX) domain-containing protein TUG regulates the p97 ATPase and resides at the endoplasmic reticulum-golgi intermediate compartment. *J Biol Chem.* 2012;287(9):6679-92.
- 58. Schwartz DC, and Hochstrasser M. A superfamily of protein tags: ubiquitin, SUMO and related modifiers. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2003;28(6):321-8.
- 59. Kerscher O, Felberbaum R, and Hochstrasser M. Modification of proteins by ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol.* 2006;22(159-80.

- 60. Hochstrasser M. Biochemistry. All in the ubiquitin family. *Science*. 2000;289(5479):563-4.
- 61. Bonifacino JS, and Traub LM. Signals for sorting of transmembrane proteins to endosomes and lysosomes. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 2003;72(395-447.
- 62. Habtemichael EN, Li DT, Alcazar-Roman A, Westergaard XO, Li M, Petersen MC, Li H, DeVries SG, Li E, Julca-Zevallos O, et al. Usp25m protease regulates ubiquitin-like processing of TUG proteins to control GLUT4 glucose transporter translocation in adipocytes. *J Biol Chem.* 2018.
- 63. Vatner DF, Weismann D, Beddow SA, Kumashiro N, Erion DM, Liao XH, Grover GJ, Webb P, Phillips KJ, Weiss RE, et al. Thyroid hormone receptor-beta agonists prevent hepatic steatosis in fat-fed rats but impair insulin sensitivity via discrete pathways. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2013;305(1):E89-100.
- 64. Rose AJ, and Richter EA. Skeletal muscle glucose uptake during exercise: how is it regulated? *Physiology (Bethesda)*. 2005;20(260-70.
- 65. Boule NG, Weisnagel SJ, Lakka TA, Tremblay A, Bergman RN, Rankinen T, Leon AS, Skinner JS, Wilmore JH, Rao DC, et al. Effects of exercise training on glucose homeostasis: the HERITAGE Family Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(1):108-14.
- 66. Martin IK, Katz A, and Wahren J. Splanchnic and muscle metabolism during exercise in NIDDM patients. *Am J Physiol.* 1995;269(3 Pt 1):E583-90.
- 67. Andersen P, and Saltin B. Maximal perfusion of skeletal muscle in man. J *Physiol.* 1985;366(233-49.
- 68. Derave W, Lund S, Holman GD, Wojtaszewski J, Pedersen O, and Richter EA. Contraction-stimulated muscle glucose transport and GLUT-4 surface content are dependent on glycogen content. *Am J Physiol.* 1999;277(6):E1103-10.
- 69. Zaha VG, and Young LH. AMP-activated protein kinase regulation and biological actions in the heart. *Circ Res.* 2012;111(6):800-14.
- 70. Xiao B, Sanders MJ, Underwood E, Heath R, Mayer FV, Carmena D, Jing C, Walker PA, Eccleston JF, Haire LF, et al. Structure of mammalian AMPK and its regulation by ADP. *Nature*. 2011;472(7342):230-3.
- 71. Stanford KI, and Goodyear LJ. Exercise and type 2 diabetes: molecular mechanisms regulating glucose uptake in skeletal muscle. *Adv Physiol Educ*. 2014;38(4):308-14.
- 72. Arad M, Benson DW, Perez-Atayde AR, McKenna WJ, Sparks EA, Kanter RJ, McGarry K, Seidman JG, and Seidman CE. Constitutively active AMP kinase mutations cause glycogen storage disease mimicking hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *J Clin Invest.* 2002;109(3):357-62.
- 73. Kovacic S, Soltys CL, Barr AJ, Shiojima I, Walsh K, and Dyck JR. Akt activity negatively regulates phosphorylation of AMP-activated protein kinase in the heart. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(41):39422-7.
- 74. Suzuki A, Okamoto S, Lee S, Saito K, Shiuchi T, and Minokoshi Y. Leptin stimulates fatty acid oxidation and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha gene expression in mouse C2C12 myoblasts by changing the subcellular localization of the alpha2 form of AMP-activated protein kinase. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2007;27(12):4317-27.

- 75. Winder WW, and Hardie DG. AMP-activated protein kinase, a metabolic master switch: possible roles in type 2 diabetes. *Am J Physiol*. 1999;277(1 Pt 1):E1-10.
- 76. Bergeron R, Russell RR, 3rd, Young LH, Ren JM, Marcucci M, Lee A, and Shulman GI. Effect of AMPK activation on muscle glucose metabolism in conscious rats. *Am J Physiol.* 1999;276(5 Pt 1):E938-44.
- 77. Russell RR, 3rd, Li J, Coven DL, Pypaert M, Zechner C, Palmeri M, Giordano FJ, Mu J, Birnbaum MJ, and Young LH. AMP-activated protein kinase mediates ischemic glucose uptake and prevents postischemic cardiac dysfunction, apoptosis, and injury. *J Clin Invest.* 2004;114(4):495-503.
- 78. Russell RR, 3rd, Bergeron R, Shulman GI, and Young LH. Translocation of myocardial GLUT-4 and increased glucose uptake through activation of AMPK by AICAR. *Am J Physiol*. 1999;277(2):H643-9.
- 79. Kjobsted R, Treebak JT, Fentz J, Lantier L, Viollet B, Birk JB, Schjerling P, Bjornholm M, Zierath JR, and Wojtaszewski JF. Prior AICAR stimulation increases insulin sensitivity in mouse skeletal muscle in an AMPK-dependent manner. *Diabetes*. 2015;64(6):2042-55.
- 80. Zhou G, Myers R, Li Y, Chen Y, Shen X, Fenyk-Melody J, Wu M, Ventre J, Doebber T, Fujii N, et al. Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2001;108(8):1167-74.
- 81. Owen MR, Doran E, and Halestrap AP. Evidence that metformin exerts its antidiabetic effects through inhibition of complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. *Biochem J.* 2000;348 Pt 3(607-14.
- Goransson O, McBride A, Hawley SA, Ross FA, Shpiro N, Foretz M, Viollet B, Hardie DG, and Sakamoto K. Mechanism of action of A-769662, a valuable tool for activation of AMP-activated protein kinase. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(45):32549-60.
- 83. Kim J, Yang G, Kim Y, Kim J, and Ha J. AMPK activators: mechanisms of action and physiological activities. *Exp Mol Med.* 2016;48(e224.
- 84. Cool B, Zinker B, Chiou W, Kifle L, Cao N, Perham M, Dickinson R, Adler A, Gagne G, Iyengar R, et al. Identification and characterization of a small molecule AMPK activator that treats key components of type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome. *Cell Metab.* 2006;3(6):403-16.
- 85. Pernicova I, and Korbonits M. Metformin--mode of action and clinical implications for diabetes and cancer. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 2014;10(3):143-56.
- 86. Madiraju AK, Erion DM, Rahimi Y, Zhang XM, Braddock DT, Albright RA, Prigaro BJ, Wood JL, Bhanot S, MacDonald MJ, et al. Metformin suppresses gluconeogenesis by inhibiting mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase. *Nature*. 2014;510(7506):542-6.
- 87. Baur JA, and Birnbaum MJ. Control of gluconeogenesis by metformin: does redox trump energy charge? *Cell Metab.* 2014;20(2):197-9.
- 88. Foretz M, Hebrard S, Leclerc J, Zarrinpashneh E, Soty M, Mithieux G, Sakamoto K, Andreelli F, and Viollet B. Metformin inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis in mice independently of the LKB1/AMPK pathway via a decrease in hepatic energy state. *J Clin Invest.* 2010;120(7):2355-69.

- 89. Quan N, Sun W, Wang L, Chen X, Bogan JS, Zhou X, Cates C, Liu Q, Zheng Y, and Li J. Sestrin2 prevents age-related intolerance to ischemia and reperfusion injury by modulating substrate metabolism. *FASEB J.* 2017;31(9):4153-67.
- 90. Witczak CA, Fujii N, Hirshman MF, and Goodyear LJ. Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase kinase-alpha regulates skeletal muscle glucose uptake independent of AMP-activated protein kinase and Akt activation. *Diabetes*. 2007;56(5):1403-9.
- 91. Wright DC, Hucker KA, Holloszy JO, and Han DH. Ca2+ and AMPK both mediate stimulation of glucose transport by muscle contractions. *Diabetes*. 2004;53(2):330-5.
- 92. Jensen TE, Schjerling P, Viollet B, Wojtaszewski JF, and Richter EA. AMPK alpha1 activation is required for stimulation of glucose uptake by twitch contraction, but not by H2O2, in mouse skeletal muscle. *PLoS One*. 2008;3(5):e2102.
- 93. Heydemann A. An Overview of Murine High Fat Diet as a Model for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *J Diabetes Res.* 2016;2016(2902351.
- 94. Tettamanzi MC, Yu C, Bogan JS, and Hodsdon ME. Solution structure and backbone dynamics of an N-terminal ubiquitin-like domain in the GLUT4-regulating protein, TUG. *Protein Sci.* 2006;15(3):498-508.
- 95. Belman JP, Bian RR, Habtemichael EN, Li DT, Jurczak MJ, Alcazar-Roman A, McNally LJ, Shulman GI, and Bogan JS. Acetylation of TUG protein promotes the accumulation of GLUT4 glucose transporters in an insulin-responsive intracellular compartment. *J Biol Chem.* 2015;290(7):4447-63.
- 96. Denuc A, Bosch-Comas A, Gonzalez-Duarte R, and Marfany G. The UBA-UIM domains of the USP25 regulate the enzyme ubiquitination state and modulate substrate recognition. *PLoS One*. 2009;4(5):e5571.
- 97. Bosch-Comas A, Lindsten K, Gonzalez-Duarte R, Masucci MG, and Marfany G. The ubiquitin-specific protease USP25 interacts with three sarcomeric proteins. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2006;63(6):723-34.
- 98. Loffler MG, Birkenfeld AL, Philbrick KM, Belman JP, Habtemichael EN, Booth CJ, Castorena CM, Choi CS, Jornayvaz FR, Gassaway BM, et al. Enhanced fasting glucose turnover in mice with disrupted action of TUG protein in skeletal muscle. *J Biol Chem.* 2013;288(28):20135-50.
- 99. Mu J, Brozinick JT, Jr., Valladares O, Bucan M, and Birnbaum MJ. A role for AMP-activated protein kinase in contraction- and hypoxia-regulated glucose transport in skeletal muscle. *Mol Cell*. 2001;7(5):1085-94.
- 100. Li J, Miller EJ, Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Russell RR, 3rd, and Young LH. AMPactivated protein kinase activates p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase by increasing recruitment of p38 MAPK to TAB1 in the ischemic heart. *Circ Res.* 2005;97(9):872-9.
- 101. Kupriyanova TA, Kandror V, and Kandror KV. Isolation and characterization of the two major intracellular Glut4 storage compartments. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(11):9133-8.